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HISTORIC BUILDINGS SURVEY REPORT

CHARLES J. STARR ESTATE: GARDENER’S COTTAGE, 193 FIFTH STREET
FRANK PHELPS ESTATE: GARDENER'S COTTAGE, 178 STRAWBERRY HILL AVENUE

Location:

Description:

Early History:
(1859-1963)

200 Strawberry Hill Avenue, Stamford, CT, 06901. This submittal concerns two cottages:

the larger Charles J. Starr Estate Gardener’s Cottage, originally 193 Fifth Street, and herein
referred to as the “North Cottage”, based on its disposition on the present parcel, and the
smaller Frank Phelps Estate Gardener’s Cottage, originally 178 Strawberry Hill Avenue, herein
referred to as the “South Cottage” for the same reason.

The two nineteenth-century cottages on the Sacred Heart Academy property comprise a
unique remnant of Strawberry Hill’s auxiliary estate buildings, situated to the rear of their
respective mansions, all of which have been demolished some time ago. The North Cottage
is actually located on Fifth Street on the northern edge of the property, west of the C.]J. Starr
Barn & Carriage House, which is similarly located on the edge of the property, very close to
Fifth Street. The North Cottage is essentially a two-story, vernacular I-house, one room wide
and three bays long, the longer side comprising the facade. It is sheltered by a side gabled
roof showing three second-story windows rising through the eaves with gabled wall dormers.
Although running parallel and close to Fifth Street, the North Cottage faces south and
includes an enclosed porch obscuring the right half of the half of the first story. The building
is currently covered with vinyl siding, the installation of which removed its only stylistic
element: curvilinear brackets of Italianate derivation that “supported” its roof eaves including
those of both side gables.

As it was constructed for another estate, the South Cottage is historically and architecturally
unrelated to the North Cottage, other than both having served as the gardener’s residence

for either estate. The separate identity is clearly shown on all maps drawn before 1963 when
its property was added to the existing Sacred Heart campus. Located about 360’ south of the
North Cottage, it is also two stories in height and sheltered by a side-gabled roof. It faces
east with a symmetrical two-bay facade including a centrally placed front door sheltered by

a gable-roofed hood supported by large stick work brackets, the open gable also showing a
stick work design of diagonal members rising from the center of the horizontal member. The
gable, one-bay side elevations also show stick work ornamentation at the peaks while the west,
rear elevation is sheltered at its first story by a long, shed-roofed porch supported by three
remaining turned posts. Both front and rear elevations show a centrally placed, shed-roofed
wall dormer at the second story, that of the facade lit by a single window and that of the rear
lit by a painted window. The original siding of unknown appearance was covered by asbestos
siding more than 40 years ago.

The North Cottage was originally the gardener’s cottage for the Charles J. Starr estate. The
property was purchased without buildings in March of 1859 after which a Quit Claim deed
in February of 1861 mentioned buildings on the premises, indicating the main house plus the
carriage house / barn and perhaps the gardener’s cottage. The main house alone is depicted
on the 1867 Beer’s Atlas which, however, did not normally include outbuildings. Although
it is possible that the North Cottage could have been constructed in 1860, this supposition
is not supported by the 1870 Census, which shows no gardener in either of the adjacent
buildings listed in the Census. All three buildings were depicted on the 1878 Hopkins Atlas
and the gardener’s cottage was included in the 1880 Census, Michael Maher, 28, listed as the
head gardener. Stylistically the cottage could date at any time between 1860 and 1878 and
obviously bears little relationship to the main house which had a mansard roof in the 1883
Burleigh Bird's-eye Views, the cottage is not included because of its location too far to the
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CHARLES J. STARR ESTATE: GARDENER’S COTTAGE, 193 FIFTH STREET

FRANK PHELPS ESTATE: GARDENER'S COTTAGE, 178 STRAWBERRY HILL AVENUE

Recent History:
(1963-Present):

west. Therefore, based on the preceding information, a date of c1872 is surmised. Michael
Maher was listed as the gardener of at least 36 years, the longest of any of the buildings’
occupants, which were always listed at the building’s original address, 193 Fifth Street.
Beginning in 1954 the occupation at the cottage’s occupant was listed as caretaker rather
than gardener. Relatively recent photographs of the main house show extensive alterations
by the estate’s third owner Henry McHarg , including the replacement of the original
mansard roof with a full third story.

The South Cottage can be more definitively dated, as its property was purchased without
buildings in July of 1880 and shows both the main house and the cottage in the 1883
Burleigh Bird's-eye View. The stick-style details of the cottage are suggested in a general
sense at the main house with its steep roofline, vertically oriented windows and central
squared, projecting bay with its second-story, shed-roofed hood, better shown in a more
recent photograph which also shows a later Colonial Revival porch with Tuscan columns
and a white-painted surface obscuring what might have still been applied stick work typical
of the style. The occupancy of the South Cottage is not listed until 1904 when Dennis
O’Connell is first listed as the gardener for the property’s second owner, Grace Dater.
Similarly to Mr. Maher’s residence in the North Cottage, O’Connell’s tenure was the longest
for the structure, in this case lasting until 1930. After 1940 the building, then at the address
178 Strawberry Hill Avenue, is usually listed as vacant or not listed at all. Apparently the
estate’s relatively small size, less than 3 acres, was at this point in the time not large enough
to support a full-time gardener. Significantly, neither cottage showed any occupants during
World War II.

The William H. Knapp house, referred to below as the McVicker House, was built on a
smaller property transferred to the Sister of St. Joseph in 1923, and did not have any direct
relationship to either cottage, having been transferred from Jonathan Waterbury to William
Knapp 7 years before Charles ]. Starr purchased the property that eventually housed both
cottages. Its history of title is included below, and its apparent use as the Strawberry Hill
Sanatorium Company, Inc. (a company that is recorded in the Report of the Treasurer of
the State of Connecticut as early as 1913, and incorporated in 1915 by John H. Lambert,
Mitchell W. Alexander, and Stanley M. Lambert, of New York, for $100,000) may be of
interest. The Sacred Heart Academy used it at least through the 1970s, for lectures, labs, and
boarding rooms.

Since the transfer of the South Cottage to the Sisters of Saint Joseph in 1963, the school’s
expanding enrollment required the construction of a dormitory, gym and lab facilities in the
early 1960’s. Although the Starr - McHarg house, the McVicker house and the Dater - Phelps
houses were all used by Sacred Heart Academy after purchase, for labs and dormitories,
Sanborn maps from 1978 and 1982 indicate that all three homes had been removed by that
time, and by the time of the publication of the Sacred Heart’s publication Golden Jubilee
1922-1972, at least the Starr - McHarg house was no longer standing. Several outbuildings
are still indicated on these Sanborn maps, including the Cottages, and the Jubilee makes
reference to the North Cottage as being the Gardener’s Cottage.
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In 1979, the Charles J. Starr Barn was listed on the National Register of Historic Places, and
mention is made of the North and South Cottages, as well as their general locations on a site
plan in the nomination form.

Mary B. O’Donnell is recorded as occupying the North Cottage from 1974-1981, and the
house is shown as being vacant for the next 11 years, until Sister Sandra Shaw, is recorded
as living in the North Cottage from 1994 to 2007, with Sister Jeanne Paulella shown as also
occupying the building during 2006. After Sacred Heart Academy no longer occupied the
site after 2007, the house was apparently rented to a Richard Fatigate from 2009 to 2014,
when voter records show he either died or left the state.

In January of 2006, the Sisters of Saint Joseph announced, via a letter to the Sacred Heart
Academy community, that the Academy would graduate its final class of 2006, and cease to
operate. After the graduation of the class of 2006, the site continued to be used by various
groups, including the Stamford Theatre Works, who used the Charles J. Starr Barn, as well as
Stepping Stones Pre-School and Pre-K. In 2009 the Stamwich School leased the property to
house their high school program while facilities were under construction at their Greenwich
campus, and in September of 2014, the property, including the North and South Cottages,
transferred to the City of Stamford, with the intention of using the property to build a school
to relieve overcrowding elsewhere in the district.

Significance: Historically, both cottages are rare survivors of Stamford’s premier neighborhood of the late
nineteenth century, Strawberry Hill Avenue, which served as Stamford’s “Fifth Avenue” so
to speak. The North Cottage’s original owner, Charles J. Starr was one of a number of New
York businessmen who created a suburban retreat from the City, Starr’s particular business
being wholesale clothing. In 1889 the property was purchased by Henry K. McHarg, banker,
founder of stock brokerage firm, and railroad executive who bought and sold the Texas
central, Virginia and Southeastern Railroads, and who was also acquited of an anti-trust
violation in 1915. McHarg sold the estate to the Sisters of St. Joseph in 1922. The owners
of the South Cottage and its property, transferred to the Sisters of St. Joseph in1963, were
likewise members of Stamford’s elite. Frank Phelps, the original owner, headed an importing
and shipping business. The husband of the second owner, Grace Dater, was Alfred W. Dater,
a locally based utility executive and banker, i.e., President of the Stamford Gas & Electric
Company, the Stamford Water Company and the Stamford Savings Bank. Grace Dater, it
should be noted, was the daughter of Walton Ferguson, the founder and first president of the
Stamford Gas and Electric Company.

Architecturally the South Cottage is the more significant structure of the two retaining
significant stick work detail at its gables and the gabled hood over its front door that bear a
resemblance to details of the Phelps Dater house visible in a photograph dated from 1889, and
included below, though the main house was apparently stripped of most of this ornament in
later photographs.. It is one of the few examples of the stick style remaining in the entire City
of Stamford. The North Cottage, in its altered state, is significant now primarily as one of a
group of historic auxiliary estate buildings on Fifth Street, including the property’s large barn /
carriage house listed in the National Register, and 190 Fifth Street, similar in size to the cottage
and dating to the same era, located almost directly across the street.
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Historian:

Project:

Nils Kerchus, Greenwich Historical Society and the Historic Neighborhood Preservation
Program, December 2015- February 2016.

This survey was prepared at the request of Stamford’s Historic Preservation Advisory
Committee, in order to record the North and South Cottages referenced in this report,
which are intended to be demolished to accommodate a new public school facility. The
cottages could not feasibly be re-purposed for the school’s use, and parking and other site
requirements required their demolition. Both cottages were offered for sale on the Historic
Trust Property Exchange from September through December of 2015, but no offers were
made to purchase either structure.

In accordance with Section V 3C of the City of Stamford Historic Preservation Advisory
Commission (HPAC) letter to the Planning Board dated December 11, 2014, and the HPAC’s
comments at the December 1, 2015 meeting, and later meetings and communications from
Stamford’s HPAC, Perkins Eastman has completed this report for the North and South
Cottages located on the property at 200 Strawberry Hill Avenue, based generally on the “short
form” prescribed by the National Park Service in their HABS History Guidelines. Per the
HPAC’s suggestion, we will file with Stamford Historical Society, Stamford Public Library,
UCONN Storrs, and the Connecticut Trust for Historic Preservation.

Per the suggestion of the committee, Perkins Eastman retained Nils Kerchus, who performed

the bulk of the research in this report, and Rick Wies, AIA as advisor, while Joe Banks, AIA of
Perkins Eastman compiled and edited the report.
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Figure 1: Map of Stamford, 1867, Beer’s Atlas
Red dashed area shows area of detail on following page
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Figure 2: Detail of Map of Stamford, 1867, Beer’s Atlas,showing property of C. Starr and vicinity. Blue dashed line
shows approximate boundaries of property as of 2016
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Figure 3: Map of Stamford
Hopkins Atlas, 1878. Red dashed line shows area of detail below
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Figure 4: Detail from map of Stamford, showing Subject property
Hopkins Atlas, 1878. Blue dashed lines show approximate property boundaries as of 2016.
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Figure 5: Birdseye view of Stamford
Burleigh, 1883. Red dashed lines show area of detail below.
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Figure 6: Detail from birdseye view of Stamford, showing Subject property
Burleigh, 1883
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Figure 7: Detail from map of Stamford, showing Subject property and vicinity
Miller Robbins, 1890. Red dashed lines show area of detail below.
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Figure 7b: Detail from map of Stamford, showing Subject property and vicinity
Miller Robbins, 1890. Blue dashed line shows approximate boundaries of property as of 2016
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Figure 8: Detail from map of Stamford, showing Subject property and vicinity
Sanborn, 1930. Blue dashed line shows approximate boundaries of property as of 2016
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Figure 9: Detail from map of Stamford, showing Subject property and vicinity. Sanborn, 1978, from Historic
Resources Inventory Blue dashed line shows approximate boundaries of property as of 2016
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Figure 10: Detail from map of Stamford, showing Subject property and vicinity
Sanborn, 1981. Blue dashed line shows approximate boundaries of property as of 2016
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Figure 11: Aerial photograph showing Subject property and vicinity, Cottages circled
From University of Connecticut ArcGIS Server, 2007
http://geoserver.lib.uconn.edu:8080/geoserver/ MAGIC/wms?
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CONTEXTUAL HISTORIC PHOTOS
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Photo 1: Starr-McHarg House
The Italianate Starr-McHarg residence was used as a convent initially, then classrooms. Later it housed a chapel
and boarding rooms. The house wasn’t demolished to construct the 1925 school building. Photo and research
provided by Anne Goslin, from Sacred Heart’s publication Golden Jubilee 1922-1972..
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Photo 2: McVicker House, Sacred Heart School, and Starr-McHarg House
This image in Sacred Heart’s publication Golden Jubilee 1922-1972 shows these buildings side to side. They were
used concurrently, but by the time of the 1972 publication, the Starr-McHarg House was gone. The Jubilee identifies
the North Cottage as the gardener’s cottage. Photo and research provided by Anne Goslin.
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Photo 3: McVicker House
The Queen Anne-style MacVicker (also known as Weaver) residence was purchased in 1923. It was used for lectures
and labs for four years. After the 1925 school building was finished, it served as boarding rooms. Photo and re-
search provided by Anne Goslin, from Sacred Heart’s publication Golden Jubilee 1922-1972.
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Photo 4a Dater-Phelps House, 1889
Courtesy of the Stamford Historical Society

Photo 4b: Dater-Phelps House, 1930
The Sacred Heart School used the Dater-Phelps House in the 1960s for the convent. This house belonged to the same
property as the South Cottage. Photo and research provided by Anne Goslin, from Sacred Heart’s publication Gold-

en Jubilee 1922-1972. Note that earlier ornament, similar to the South Cottage, has been removed.
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Photo 4c: Dater-Phelps Garden, 1930
This photograph shows a view of the garden presumably maintained by the Gardener who occupied the South
Cottage. Photo courtesy of the Stamford Historical Society.
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SITE PLAN AND CONTEMPORARY CONTEXT PHOTOS
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Figure 11: Site Map
200 Strawberry Avenue, Site Survey, 2007, by Redniss and Mead, provided by the City of Stamford, annotated.




Photo 5:
North Cottage, as seen from Fifth Street, looking East, with C.]. Starr Barn beyond.

Photo 6:
South Cottage, as seen from C.]. Starr Barn, looking South across existing athletic field. Note former Sacred Heart
School and convent buildings to the left (eastern) portion of the photo.
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NORTH COTTAGE SITE PLAN AND ELEVATIONS
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Figure 12: Detail of North Cottage from 2007 Site Survey, no scale.

Photo 7:

North Cottage, East Elevation
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Photo 8:
North Cottage, South Elevation

Photo 9:
North Cottage, West Elevation

Photo 10:
North Cottage, North Elevation
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NORTH COTTAGE PLANS
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Figure 13: Floor Plan Page 42

North Cottage, First Floor
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Figure 14: Floor Plan Page 43
North Cottage,Second Floor



NORTH COTTAGE INTERIOR DETAILS
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Photo 11: North Cottage, Gas escutcheon Photo 12: North Cottage, Door Hardware

Photo 13: Photo 14: North Cottage, Ceiling plaster detail
North Cottage, Window and Radiator, second floor
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Photo 15: North Cottage, Kitchen doors and moldings Photo 16: North Cottage, Second floor stair

Photo 17: North Cottage, Door hardware
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SOUTH COTTAGE SITE PLAN AND ELEVATIONS
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Figure 15: Detail of South Cottage from 2007 Survey, no
scale.

Photo 19:
South Cottage , Southeast elevation.
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Photo 20:
South Cottage, Southwest Elevation.

Photo 21:
South Cottage, East Elevation.
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SOUTH COTTAGE EXTERIOR PHOTOS AND DETAILS
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Photo 22: South Cottage, Exterior Canopy Detail

Photo 23: South Cottage, Exterior Gable Truss

Photo 24: South Cottage, Exterior Gable Truss Detail Photo 25: South Cottage, Exterior Rake Detail
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Photo 26L South Cottage, Exterior Canopy Detail Photo 27:South Cottage, Interior photo

Photo 28: South Cottage, Interior photo
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